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Dave Yost - Auditor of State

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS
REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

City of Green

Summit County

1755 Town Park Bivd.
P.O. Box 278

Green, Ohio 44232

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council:

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States and the
Comptroller General of the United States’ Government Auditing Standards, the financial statements of
the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of
Green, Summit County, (the City) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013 and the related notes
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements and have
issued our report thereon dated June 30, 2014.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

As part of our financial statement audit, we considered the City’s internal control over financial reporting
(internal control) to determine the audit procedures appropriate in the circumstances to the extent
necessary to support our opinions on the financial statements, but not to the extent necessary to opine on
the effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we have not opined on it.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, when performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and timely
correct misstatements. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of internal control
deficiencies resulting in a reasonable possibility that internal control will not prevent or detect and timely
correct a material misstatement of the City’s financial statements. A significant deficiency is a deficiency,
or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all internal control deficiencies that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, we did not identify any deficiencies in
internal control that we consider material weaknesses. However, unidentified material weaknesses may
exist. We did identify a certain deficiency in internal control, described in the accompanying schedule of
findings that we consider a significant deficiency in internal control. We consider finding 2013-001 to be a
significant deficiency.

101 Central Plaza South, 700 Chase Tower, Canton, Ohio 44702-1509
Phone: 330-438-0617 or 800-443-9272 Fax: 330-471-0001
www.ohioauditor.gov
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of reasonably assuring whether the City’s financial statements are free of material misstatement,
we tested its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements,
noncompliance with which could directly and materially affect the determination of financial statement
amounts. However, opining on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and
accordingly, we do not express an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed an instance of
noncompliance or other matter we must report under Government Auditing Standards which is described
in the accompanying schedule of findings as item 2013-001.

Entity’s Response to Findings

The City’s response to the finding identified in our audit is described in the accompanying schedule of
findings. We did not audit the City’s response and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Purpose of this Report
This report only describes the scope of our internal control and compliance testing and our testing results,
and does not opine on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an

integral part of an audit performed under Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

)

Dave Yost
Auditor of State
Columbus, Ohio

June 30, 2014
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Dave Yost - Auditor of State

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS
APPLICABLE TO THE MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER
COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY OMB CIRCULAR A-133

City of Green

Summit County

1755 Town Park Bivd.
P.O. Box 278

Green, Ohio 44232

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council:
Report on Compliance for the Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of Green's (the City) compliance with the applicable requirements described in
the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133, Compliance Supplement that could
directly and materially affect the City of Green’s major federal program for the year ended December 31,
2013. The Summary of Auditor’s Results in the accompanying schedule of findings identifies the City's
major federal program.

Management’'s Responsibility

The City’s Management is responsible for complying with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts,
and grants applicable to its federal program.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to opine on the City’s compliance for the City’s major federal program based on our
audit of the applicable compliance requirements referred to above. Our compliance audit followed
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards for financial audits
included in the Comptroller General of the United States’ Government Auditing Standards; and OMB
Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations. These standards
and OMB Circular A-133 require us to plan and perform the audit to reasonably assure whether
noncompliance with the applicable compliance requirements referred to above that could directly and
materially affect a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence about the City’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe our audit provides a reasonable basis for our compliance opinion on the City’s major program.
However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City’s compliance.

101 Central Plaza South, 700 Chase Tower, Canton, Ohio 44702-1509
Phone: 330-438-0617 or 800-443-9272 Fax: 330-471-0001
www.ohioauditor.gov
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Opinion on the Major Federal Program

In our opinion, the City of Green complied, in all material respects with the compliance requirements
referred to above that could directly and materially affect its major federal program for the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

The City’'s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the applicable compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing
our compliance audit, we considered the City’s internal control over compliance with the applicable
requirements that could directly and materially affect a major federal program, to determine our auditing
procedures appropriate for opining on each major federal program’s compliance and to test and report on
internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not to the extent needed to
opine on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we have not opined on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, when performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or to timely detect and correct, noncompliance with a federal program's applicable compliance
requirement. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a federal program compliance requirement will not be prevented, or timely detected
and corrected. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with federal program’'s applicable
compliance requirement that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

This report only describes the scope of our internal control compliance tests and the results of this testing
based on OMB Circular A-133 requirements. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other
purpose.

Report Federal Awards Expenditures Schedule Required by OMB Circular A-133

We have also audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Green as of and for the year ended December 31,
2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic
financial statements. We issued our unmodified report thereon dated June 30, 2014. We conducted our
audit to opine on the City’s basic financial statements. The accompanying federal awards expenditures
schedule (the schedule) presents additional analysis required by the U.S. Office of Management and
Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations and is not a
required part of the basic financial statements. The schedule is management’'s responsibility, and was
derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records management used to
prepare the basic financial statements. We subjected this schedule to the auditing procedures we applied
to the basic financial statements.
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We also applied certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling this schedule directly
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the
basic financial statements themselves, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. In our opinion, this schedule is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation
to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

)

Dave Yost
Auditor of State
Columbus, Ohio

June 30, 2014


rakelly
Dave Yost
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CITY OF GREEN
SUMMIT COUNTY

FEDERAL AWARDS EXPENDITURES SCHEDULE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

Federal Grantor/ Pass Through Federal
Pass Through Grantor/ Entity CFDA
Program Title Number Number Expenditures
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
Passed Through Ohio Department of Transportation
Highway Planning and Construction
Massillon Road North 90415 20.205 $119,502
Greensburg Road East 94277 20.205 417,642
Greensburg Road West 92669 20.205 359,145
Mayfair Road Resurfacing 92676 20.205 184,690
Arlington Road Resurface to Nimisila 94276 20.205 466,082
Total U.S. Department of Transportation $ 1,547,061

The accompanying notes to this schedule are an integral part of this schedule.



CITY OF GREEN
SUMMIT COUNTY

NOTES TO THE FEDERAL AWARDS EXPENDITURES SCHEDULE
FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

NOTE A - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying Federal Awards Expenditures Schedule (the Schedule) reports the City of Green’s
(the City’s) federal award programs’ disbursements. The Schedule has been prepared on the cash basis
of accounting.

NOTE B - MATCHING REQUIREMENTS
Certain Federal programs require the City to contribute non-Federal funds (matching funds) to support the

Federally-funded programs. The City has met its matching requirements. The Schedule does not include
the expenditure of non-Federal matching funds.



CITY OF GREEN
SUMMIT COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS
OMB CIRCULAR A -133 § .505

DECEMBER 31, 2013

1. SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS

(D)) Type of Financial Statement Opinion Unmodified
(d)(Q)(ii) Were there any material control weaknesses No
reported at the financial statement level
(GAGAS)?
(d)(Q)(ii) Were there any significant deficiencies in Yes
internal control reported at the financial
statement level (GAGAS)?
(d)(1)(iii) Was there any reported material Yes
noncompliance at the financial statement level
(GAGAS)?
(d)(1)(iv) Were there any material internal control No
weaknesses reported for major federal
programs?
(d)(Q)(iv) Were there any significant deficiencies in No
internal control reported for major federal
programs?
(d)(D)(v) Type of Major Programs’ Compliance Opinion Unmodified
(d)(Q)(vi) Are there any reportable findings under No
§ .510(a)?
(d)(Q)(vii) Major Programs (list): Highway Planning and
Construction Grant CFDA #20.205
(d)(1)(viii) Dollar Threshold: Type A\B Programs Type A: > $ 300,000
Type B: all others
(d)(1)(ix) Low Risk Auditee? No
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Summit County
Schedule of Findings
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2. FINDINGS RELATED TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REQUIRED TO BE REPORTED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GAGAS

FINDING NUMBER 2013-001

Noncompliance & Significant Deficiency - Appropriations Exceeding Estimated Resources and
Recording of Prior Year Encumbrances

Ohio Rev. Code Section 5705.39 requires that the total appropriations from each fund shall not exceed
the total of the estimated revenue available for expenditure, as certified by the budget commission, or in
case of appeal, by the board of tax appeals. No appropriation measure shall become effective until the
county auditor files with the appropriating authority a certificate that the total appropriations from each
fund, taken together with all other outstanding appropriations, do not exceed such official estimate or
amended official estimate. When the appropriation does not exceed such official estimate, the county
auditor shall give such certificate forthwith upon receiving from the appropriating authority a certified copy
of the appropriation measure. Appropriations shall be made from each fund only for the purposes for
which such fund is established.

The original appropriations exceeded estimated resources in the Grant Project Fund by $2,742,613 and
the final appropriations exceeded estimated resources in the Grant Fund by $2,749,803.

In addition, during the compilation of the Grant Project Fund Budgetary Statement, the Greensburg/Lauby
Road Project prior year encumbrances of $163,578 were recorded to three other projects (State Route
619 Resurface Project, Greensburg Road East Resurface Project, and Greensburg Road West Resurface
Project). As a result, the Remaining Fund Information (RFI) Original and Final Budgeted Expenses were
overstated and the ending unencumbered fund balance was understated by $490,734. The
accompanying financial statement reflects these adjustments.

The Finance Director and Council should closely monitor appropriations and estimated resources to
ensure appropriations do not exceed estimated resources. Additionally, the Finance Director and
Assistant Finance Director should review all GAAP working papers to ensure the accuracy of the
information included therein.

Official’'s Response: Part | — Appropriations exceed estimated revenues, and actual revenues: The
City of Green acknowledges that we did not advance funds from our General Fund to cover the shortfall
in estimated receipts necessary to increase revenues to the level of our Grant Fund appropriations. This
revenue shortfall represents a receivable due from the Grantor which will be cured once grant revenues
are received, and the grant project is concluded. Part Il — Improper review of final work papers: Even
though the finance director found and explained the budgetary differences identified by the audit team, it
was noted that a more observant review needs to be conducted prior to submitting financials to the audit
team. In the future a more critical review will be conducted by the Finance Director.

| 3. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR FEDERAL AWARDS

None

10



CITY OF GREEN
SUMMIT COUNTY

SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS

DECEMBER 31, 2013

Not Corrected, Partially
Corrected; Significantly
Different Corrective Action

Finding Finding Fully Taken; or Finding No Longer
Number Summary Corrected? Valid; Explain
2012-001 Ohio Rev. Code Section 5705.39 — No See Finding No. 2013-001

The original and final appropriations
exceeded estimated resources in the
Grant Project Fund by $487,550 and
$243,348, respectively. Additionally
final appropriations exceeded actual
revenue by $329,963.

11




This page intentionally left blank.



City of Green, Ohio
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013




CITY OF GREEN, OHIO

COMPREHENSIVE

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Prepared by The Department of Finance

Laurence Rush, CPA
Director of Finance




Introductory Section




This page intentionally left blank.



City of Green, Ohio
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Table of Contents

Page
I. Introductory Section
I 101 (=T 0) @0 ] (] g £ i
Letter Of TranSMUTIAL ......ocviiiiiiiii ettt et e st e e st e e et e e s ebassaba e e erbeesabeeeares iv
GFOA Certificate Of ACNIEBVEMENT.......ciiciiiie ittt et s et s st e e e s et r e e s st e e e s sbaeessarees Viii
OrganizatioNal CRAT.... ..ottt ettt et e te et st e te st nneeneenteeneeneennas iX
I o) O | YA O i o] T SRR X
LiSt OF City EMPIOYEES .....c.veivieieite ettt ettt ettt et e s te et s et e s ta e e e beetaetaesaesreenaenre s Xi
1. Financial Section
INdependent AUTITOrS REPOIT ......c.oiiiiiiiteie ettt b b bbb e eneas 1
Management’s DiSCUSSION aNd ANAIYSIS .......cviiiiiiiiiiiie ettt 5
Basic Financial Statements:
Government-wide Financial Statements:
SEAtEMENT OF NET POSITION .....vviiiiieeiie ettt ettt e st e e e s st e e e s st e e e s s bt e e e s sabeneessbbaeeesans 14
SEALEMENT OF A CTIVITIES ..vveiiiiieeei e e sttt e ettt e ettt e e ettt e e sttt e s sttt e e s st et e e s sbaeeessbeeeessbeeeessbeneesarbeeeesn 15
Fund Financial Statements:
Balance Sheet — Governmental FUNGS .........ovoiieiiic ettt 16
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances — GOVErNMENTAl FUNGS. ........c..viiiiiiie ettt s et e e 18
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances - Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual:
GENETAL FUNG... .ottt ettt e e s e e e s ettt e e e s sab b e e s s saba e s e s sabeaeessbbaeessabeneeas 20
Street Construction, Maintenance and Repair FUNd ..........ccccoceiiiiiiiii i 21
Statement of Fund Net Position — Internal SErvice FUN...........coovviiiiiiiiiie e 22
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
= INEEINAL SEIVICE FUNG ...ooiiieiiiii ettt ettt e st e e st e e e s sttt e s s sttt e e s sabbaeessabaeneas 23
Statement of Cash Flows — Internal Service FUN .........ocoveviiiiiiii i 24
Statement of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities — AGency FUNG ..........ccooviiiiiieicicisis e 25
Notes to the Basic FINaNCial STAtEMENTS ..........coviiiiiie ettt e e srbe e sraeeens 26




Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules:
Combining Statements — Nonmajor Governmental Funds:

FUN DESCIIPLIONS .....cvitete ettt bbbttt 62
Combining Balance Sheet — Nonmajor Governmental Funds ..........c.cccoocevvieeie e vec e, 64

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances — Nonmajor Governmental FUNdS ............cccooiiiiiiiiiieecee e 65

Combining Balance Sheet — Nonmajor Special Revenue FUNAS .........cccccoovvevieiveiennineieenn 66

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances — Nonmajor Special Revenue FUNS .........cccccevviiiiiiiciccece e 68

Combining Balance Sheet — Nonmajor Capital Projects FUNds...........ccccccovvevieveieeccie e, 70

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in
Fund Balances — Nonmajor Capital Projects FUNGS.........ccccocviiieveeieccec e 71

Financial Statement — Fiduciary Fund
U Lol B L= ol o1 o) PSPPSR 72
Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities — Agency Funds..........cccoceoviiiiinincnciciinne 73

Individual Fund Schedules of Revenues, Expenditures/Expenses and Changes in
Fund Balance/Fund Equity — Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual:

Major Funds:
GENEIAL FUNG ...ttt ettt te e tesreeseesaeereenneane s 75
Street Construction, Maintenance and Repair FUN ..., 78
General Obligation Bond Retirement FUNG............cccoiviiiiiiiiiic e 79
TIF PrOJECES FUNG ..ottt 80
Nonmajor Funds:
State HIghWay FUNG.........ccoooiieec et anenne e 81
Permissive TaX FUNG ..ottt 82
Lighting ASSESSMENT FUNT ........c.oiiiiiiiiiicie e 83
Ambulance REVENUE FUNG ........ooiiiiie e 84
RECYCIE FUNG ......oiiiice et e et e ba e e saeereens 85
Grant PrOJECT FUNG .....oouiiiiiiiiiiee et 86
(O] 1= (=] A ] T R 87
Green Community Telecommunications FUNG..........cc.ccoviieiiiieicie e 88
Keep Green Beautiful FUNG...........ooiiiiiii e 89
Fire/Paramedic DONAtions FUNG ..........ccooiiiiiiee e 90
FIre/ParamediC FUNG .......c.oo it 91
Parks and ReCreation FUNG ...........ccooiiiiiiiiiie e 92
ZONING FUNG ..ottt et ettt sttt e beereeneeebeeneeseesreeneens 94
o T T a0 N ] o SR 95
Capital Projects RESEIVE FUNG........ccocieiiiecic e 96
Parks Capital Projects RESErve FUNG...........ccviiiiiiiiee s 97
SeIf INSUFANCE FUND ..eie ettt 98




I11. Statistical Section

Statistical SECtION DESCIIPLIONS .....uveiieiieiie et e et e st e e e e reeeaesnteeneeenees S1
Net Position By Component — LaSt TEN YEAIS......cccviiiiiiieieieaie e sieeeesee et e e seeeeeenes S2
Changes in Net POSItion — LaSt TEN YEAIS ....c.ccviiuiiieiiiecie ettt ste ettt sre st sre e nesra e S4
Fund Balances, Governmental FUNAS — LASEt TEN Y AIS.....ciceouereeieeeee et ee e e e e et e ee e e reairereneeessaeas S6
Changes in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds — Last TEN YEAIS.......ccccevvriverereeiieriesieresieeieniens S8

Assessed Valuation and Estimated Actual Values

of Taxable Property — Last TEN YEAIS ......cvcveieie ettt S10
Property Tax Rates — Direct and Overlapping Governments —

e O =T I T ST TUP R PUPP PP S12
Property Tax Levies and Collections — Last TEN YEAIS ....c.cccvevveieeiiiesie e e eie e ste e e snee e S14
Principal Real Estate Property Taxpayers — 2013 and 2004...........cccoeoeiiiiiinineneeeesese e S16
Income Tax Revenue Base and Collections — Last TEN YEAIS ......cccvveierererieiieinesise e S17
Legal Debt Margin — Last TEN YRS .....c.ccoiiiiirieiieieiei ettt S18
Ratio of Outstanding Debt to Total Personal Income

and Debt Per Capita — LaSt TEN YEAIS .....ccoiiiiiiieieiiiesieie e S20
Ratio of General Obligation Bonded Debt to Estimated Actual Value

and Bonded Debt Per Capita — Last TEN YEAI'S .......ccvviriririeieieisisiesie e S22
Computation of Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt ...........ccccoeviiiiiviiiiieeeenn. S23

Pledged Revenue Coverage — Community Learning Center

Income Tax Revenue Bonds — Last EIGQNt YEAIS .......c.ccoeiviiieiiii e sie e S24
Principal Employers — 2013 @and 2004 ...........ccuoiiiiiiiieieeee et S25
Demographic and Economic Statistics — Last TEN YEAIS.......cccvcveveiieiereieeie e S26

Full-Time Equivalent City Government Employees

by Function/Program — Last TEN YEAIS........cccveiviiiiieie e eie sttt te e ste sttt S28
Operating Indicators by Function/Program — Last TEN YEArS........ccccvoviireriiieieiisine e S30
Capital Assets Statistics by Function/Program — Last TEN YEars........ccccoveveveeeeieieeeesese e sie e S34




This page intentionally left blank.



Finance Department

City of Green

1755 Town Park Boulevard
PO Box 278

Green, OH 44232-0278
PHONE: (330) 896-6603
Laurence Rush, CPA FAX: (330) 896-6606
Finance Director EMAIL: finance@cityofgreen.org

June 30, 2014

Citizens of Green and
Members of Green City Council:

This Comprehensive Annual Financial Report enables the City of Green (the City) to comply with the
Ohio Administrative Code Section 117-2-03 (B), which requires reporting on a GAAP (Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles) basis, and Ohio Revised Code Section 117.38 which requires cities
reporting on a GAAP basis to file an unaudited annual report with the Auditor or State within 150 days of
year end.

Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information contained
in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control that it has established for this
purpose. Because the cost of internal control should not exceed anticipated benefits, the objective is to
provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free of any material
misstatements.

The Auditor of State has issued an unmodified (“clean™) opinion on the City of Green’s financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2013. The independent auditor’s report is located at the front
of the financial section of this report.

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor’s report
and provides a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. The
MD&A complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

Profile of the Government

First surveyed in 1797, Green was originally part of Stark County. The Green Township government was
organized in 1811 and in March of 1840, the Ohio General Assembly voted to assign Green Township to
the newly formed Summit County. At that time, the Township was made up of five distinct communities
with a population of 1,536 residents.

To preserve the integrity of geographic boundaries, in 1987 Green Township residents petitioned the
Summit County Council for the creation of a small village within the boundaries of the township. The
Summit County Council then unanimously ordered the incorporation of the Village of Green effective
April 6, 1988. On November 11, 1989, electors in both the Village of Green and Green Township voted
to approve the merger of the two entities back to the original township boundaries. The new Village of
Green then replaced the two entities on January 1, 1991. Effective April 5, 1992, the Secretary of State
declared Green one of Ohio’s newest cities.

-V -
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The City of Green, with a total of 33.5 square miles, is conveniently located in the southeast corner of
Summit County, Ohio, between the cities of Akron and Canton. The City’s population, according to the
2010 census, was 25,699. The City’s location affords residential and commercial travelers three
interchanges on Interstate 77, access via State Routes 241 and 619, as well as air transportation. The City
is home to the Akron-Canton Regional Airport (CAK), which has the designation of a foreign trade zone.

This designation allows imported and exported goods to be received and delivered without any tariffs or
taxes. Furthermore, many areas of Green are located in a State of Ohio Enterprise Zone further enabling
businesses to qualify for tax abatements and other local incentives. Green’s proximity to the interstate
system and airport continue to promulgate both commercial and residential growth.

Green residents adopted a City Charter, effective January 1, 1993, allowing for more control by local
officials. In 1998, the Charter was amended for the first time. The Charter provides for a “Mayor-
Council” form of government and establishes the qualifications for elected officials, as well as their
respective duties and powers. The Charter requires the City be divided into four wards, as nearly equal in
population as practicable.

According to the City Charter the Mayor is elected for a four year term, beginning on the first day of
January following the November election. The City of Green Charter states the Mayor may serve for two
successive four year terms, after which he will be ineligible for re-election until a period of four years has
elapsed. The Mayor is the chief executive officer of the City, responsible for carrying out and fulfilling
the intent and purpose of all legislation passed by Council. The Mayor appoints all directors of the City
administrative departments, upon approval of a two-thirds vote of the members of Council.

The Charter notes the City Council is composed of seven members. The electors of each of the four
wards elect one council member and the other three members are elected at-large by the registered voters
of the City. The term of each council member is four years beginning in January, following the
November election. Council terms are staggered. A council member may serve for two successive four
year terms, after which he will be ineligible for re-election until a period of four years has elapsed.
During the annual organizational meeting in January, council members elect a president and a vice-
president. The Council President is the presiding officer at Council meetings and acts as Mayor of the
City in the Mayor’s absence.

Local Economy

The City’s diverse residential growth continues to offer many opportunities for quality living
accommodations. The City continues to offer a number of new single-family residential subdivisions
which would provide families the opportunity to have a new home built. The options of locating in
private communities, as well as condominium and apartment-style living are also available. The City is
also continually striving to serve the needs of senior citizens. An assisted living facility is available
within the community. Additionally, housing for seniors is currently available at privately owned
facilities. The City of Green ranks as one of the top growth communities in the area. One of the basic
growth indicators in any community is in the value of new building construction. Both commercial and
residential construction is continuing. There was an increase in new construction permits from 2012 with
the issuance of 60 new construction permits valued at $43.1 million in 2013. Even though real estate
markets are somewhat depressed in the overall economy, the City of Green expects to increase its housing
and commercial development in 2014.

The City actively promotes economic development for the community by offering business retention and
expansion support, general business assistance, and various tax incentive programs. The City is a
member of the Summit Business Partnership, a networking group, sharing a common goal to retain and
help those businesses already located in the community.



The City’s multiple tax incentive programs allow qualified companies who demonstrate sound financial
responsibility and business experience to receive certain levels of real and/or personal property tax
abatement. The programs are designed to help offset the high cost of business start-up activities as well
as assist existing businesses to grow and remain competitive in the long-term. The Tax Incremental
Financing (TIF) program will redirect the increase in taxes from real property owners resulting from this
new construction into TIF fund accounts that will accumulate proceeds from the collection of taxes for the
periodic payment of debt service incurred by the City of Green on the issuance of bonds and notes issued
for the various public improvements.

While having a positive impact, this growth also presents significant challenges. It is the City’s goal to
create and maintain a strong, diversified economic base, which will continue to benefit and sustain the
community in the future.

Long-Term Financial Planning

The City’s income tax rate was raised by a vote of the people in 2004, from one percent to two percent.
Also with this voted change was the removal of a five mill fire operating levy against real estate. The
increase in the City’s income tax revenues more than offset this levy reduction. The City’s income tax
ordinance provides for seven percent of all revenues to be used for park capital improvements. The
remaining 93 percent of collections are used for the general operations of the City. Additionally, the City
recognizes three separate TIF areas; however, each parcel within these separate areas has a specific TIF
agreement to pay for the debt service on capital improvements in these specific areas. The agreements
run for thirty years and will ultimately pay for the continuing improvements in these respective areas.

Relevant Financial Policies

During 2004, the City entered into an agreement with Green Local Schools to allow the schools to use the
Community Learning Center debt proceeds to fund improvements, whereby the City would pay an annual
maximum amount of $1,000,000 against the outstanding revenue bonds issued to construct the
improvement and the schools would pay the remaining annual debt service balance. The terms of the
agreement are continuing.

In 2006, the City agreed to charge for ambulance usage by citizens; however, if no insurance or other
means of payment was available, City residents could have the charges forgiven. All proceeds from
ambulance billings are deposited and used by that specifically named fund. No changes to this policy
have been implemented in 2013.

Major Initiatives

Current Projects: The City continues its commitment to support services throughout the community and
to fund infrastructure needs. A number of accomplishments were made during the year:

In 2013, additional roadway improvements were added along the Arlington and Massillon Road corridor
as part of a continuing redevelopment of these two major roadways. Also finalized in 2013 was Town
Park Boulevard with improved street lighting and concrete pavement. Roadway improvements were also
made to Steese and Shriver Roads along with drainage and sidewalks. A major repaving of State Route
619 was also completed from the west corporate line to the east corporate line along with a bridge repair
and guardrail replacement. Numerous storm water improvements were also completed as part of an
overall capital improvement plan. Construction on the roadway extension at the CAK Business Park
commenced which is expected to be completed in 2014. The roof replacement on the Hartong farm house
was also completed. Other park improvements included new ball fields and facilities at Kreighbaum and
East Liberty Parks. Finally, restroom improvements at Boettler Park were also completed.

-Vi -



Future Projects: 2014 will see a continuing attention to the City’s infrastructure needs. Major projects
that will be addressed in 2014 include the following:

An engineering design and traffic study for Massillon Road north of 177 and reconstruction of Lauby
Road in order to improve safety and access to the Akron Canton Regional Airport. Construction of the
Lauby Road improvement is expected to commence by July of 2014. Also, traffic studies are being
undertaken to best improve traffic flow at Massillon and Boettler Roads. This will also include Corporate
Woods Parkway, which serves numerous corporate and commercial clients, customers, and personnel. A
major initiative is also being undertaken to develop a central park for the City of Green which will include
a myriad of offerings for Green’s constituency.

As the economy continues on an upward trend, and borrowing costs remain low, the budget constraints of
the past will be eased in order to better address the infrastructure needs of the community. The City will,
however, continue to explore grant availability and other collaborative opportunities in order to improve
the City’s roads, parks, and overall infrastructure needs.

Awards and Acknowledgements

Awards: The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA)
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City for its
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012. In order to be
awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a government unit must publish an easily readable and efficiently
organized Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, whose contents conform to program standards. The
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and
applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is only valid for one year. The City of Green has received a certificate for
the past twenty-one years. The City of Green believes our current report continues to conform to
Certificate of Achievement program requirements, and has submitted it to the Government Finance
Officers Association to determine eligibility for another Certificate of Achievement.

Acknowledgments: This Comprehensive Annual Financial Report was prepared by the Finance
Department in conjunction with the Local Government Services Section of the Auditor of State’s office
and could not have been accomplished without the efficient and dedicated services of the entire
department staff. [ would like to express my appreciation to Kris Ledford, Leah Knotts, Penny Fichon,
and Sharon Salem for their direct involvement with this report. The Finance staff would also like to thank
the Local Government Services Section of the Auditor of State’s Office for their assistance in helping the
City prepare this report in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, the GASB Statement
No. 34 reporting model, and the requirements of the Government Finance Officers Association.

In addition, our sincere appreciation goes out to the City Council for their commitment to responsible
fiscal reporting. In closing, we would like to thank the residents and taxpayers of the City of Green for
entrusting us with the administration of their local government.

Sincerely,

A s Jlas

Laurence Rush, CPA
Director of Finance
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Dave Yost - Auditor of State

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

City of Green

Summit County

1755 Town Park Blvd.
P.O. Box 278

Green, Ohio 44232

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Green, Summit County, Ohio (the City), as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for preparing and fairly presenting these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes designing,
implementing, and maintaining internal control relevant to preparing and fairly presenting financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to opine on these financial statements based on our audit. We audited in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the financial audit
standards in the Comptroller General of the United States’ Government Auditing Standards. Those
standards require us to plan and perform the audit to reasonably assure the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

An audit requires obtaining evidence about financial statement amounts and disclosures. The procedures
selected depend on our judgment, including assessing the risks of material financial statement
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In assessing those risks, we consider internal control
relevant to the City's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not to the extent needed to opine on the
effectiveness of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we express no opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of management’'s accounting policies and the reasonableness of their
significant accounting estimates, as well as our evaluation of the overall financial statement presentation.

We believe the audit evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to support our audit opinions.

101 Central Plaza South, 700 Chase Tower, Canton, Ohio 44702-1509
Phone: 330-438-0617 or 800-443-9272 Fax: 330-471-0001
www.ohioauditor.gov
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City of Green

Summit County

Independent Auditor’'s Report
Page 2

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the City of Green, Summit County, Ohio, as of December 31, 2013, and the respective
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary
comparisons for the General and Street Construction, Maintenance and Repair Funds thereof for the year
then ended in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require this presentation to
include Management’s discussion and analysis, listed in the table of contents, to supplement the basic
financial statements. Although this information is not part of the basic financial statements, the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board considers it essential for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America, consisting of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to
our inquiries, to the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the
basic financial statements. We do not opine or provide any assurance on the information because the
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to opine or provide any other assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information
Our audit was conducted to opine on the City’s basic financial statements taken as a whole.

The introductory section, the financial section’s combining statements, individual fund statements and
schedules and the statistical section information present additional analysis and are not a required part of
the basic financial statements.

The statements and schedules are management'’s responsibility, and derive from and relate directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. We subjected
these statements and schedules to the auditing procedures we applied to the basic financial statements.
We also applied certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling statements and
schedules directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, these statements and schedules are
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

We did not subject the introductory section and statistical section information to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion or any other
assurance on them.



City of Green

Summit County

Independent Auditor’'s Report
Page 3

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 30, 2014
on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. That
report describes the scope of our internal control testing over financial reporting and compliance, and the
results of that testing, and does not opine on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in
considering the City’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

)

Dave Yost
Auditor of State
Columbus, Ohio

June 30, 2014


srbabbitt
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City of Green, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Unaudited

The discussion and analysis for the City of Green’s financial statements provides an overall review of the
financial activity of the City for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013. The intent of this discussion
is to provide a narrative that describes the City’s performance as a whole. To obtain a more detailed
understanding regarding the City’s financial performance, one should also review the transmittal letter as
well as the basic financial statements.

Financial Highlights

Financial Highlights for 2013 are as follows:

° The City had various ongoing construction projects in 2013, including the CAK International
Business Park, Spade Road Storm Sewer Project, Steese Road Improvement Project and
acquisition of equipment throughout the City of Green. All of these projects, along with the
acquisition of equipment for the Streets Department, have increased capital assets during
2013.

. In 2013, the State of Ohio, with some financial assistance from the City of Green and
significant contributions from the federal government, resurfaced State Route 619 from the
East corporation line to the West corporation line. We are presently awaiting the close out
of this project by the State of Ohio and this project is currently included in construction in
progress.

° During 2013, the City issued $5,480,000 in limited tax refunding bonds. These bonds were
used to refund originally issued bonds from 2008 for the Central Administration Building
and the Arlington Road Wall. These bonds increased the City’s long-term debt in 2013 but
had an overall effect of reducing debt service by almost $13,000 in 2013. The savings will
continue to increase as we approach the call dates on the advance refunded bonds.

° The new traffic signal at South Main and East Nimisila intersection was finalized, as was the
Massillon Road Roundabout and the restroom additions at Boettler Park.

. The City entered into a real estate agreement and sold the property known as the Belden
Lodge, along with approximately 8.715 acres, at the Southgate Park. The sale of this
property generated approximately $600,000 in additional revenue to the Parks Capital
Projects Reserve Fund.

Using this Annual Financial Report

As an introduction to the City of Green’s financial status this annual report consists of a series of financial
statements and notes to those statements. These statements are prepared and organized so the reader can
understand the City of Green as a whole or as an entire operating entity. The statements will provide a
detailed look at specific financial conditions.

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities provide information from a summary perspective
showing the effects of the operations for the year 2013 and how they affected the City of Green’s operations.
Major fund financial statements provide the next level of detail. For governmental funds, these statements
tell how services were financed in the short term as well as what dollars remain for future spending. The
fund financial statements also look at the City’s most significant funds with all other nonmajor funds
presented in total in one column.



City of Green, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Unaudited

Reporting the City of Green as a Whole
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities

This financial view of the City as a whole considers all transactions and answers the question of how the City
of Green performed financially during 2013. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities
provide summary information concerning the financial position and operations of the City as an entity, as
well as the overall evaluation of the City’s financial status. These statements include all non-fiduciary assets
and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting. This method takes into account all revenues when they
are earned and all expenses when they are incurred. Transactions are booked when they occur and not when
actual cash is received for revenues or when invoices are paid.

These two statements report the City’s net position and any changes in that position, which is an important
method to use to inform the reader whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating.
To evaluate the overall position of the City, particular items must be taken into consideration. These items
include the current economic situation as a whole, the current tax base for the City and the age and condition
of City buildings and infrastructure.

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities for the City of Green are divided into the
following categories:

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources
Liabilities and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net Position

Program Expenses and Revenues

General Revenues

Net Position Beginning of Year and Year’s End

Reporting the City of Green’s Most Significant Funds
Fund Financial Statements

The presentation of the City’s major funds begins on page 16. Fund financial reports give detailed
information of activities within these funds. The City currently has twenty-two funds, which have been
established to account for the multitude of services provided to residents, for employee health care and the
operation of facilities, as well as for infrastructure and capital purchases. These fund financial statements
focus on the City’s four major funds: the general fund; the street construction, maintenance and repair fund;
the general obligation bond retirement fund; and the TIF projects fund.

Governmental Funds — The City’s major activities are reported in the governmental funds, which focus on
cash flows and year-end balances available for future spending. The accounting method used to report this
activity is the modified accrual method, which measures cash and all other financial assets that can be
converted into cash. These services include fire and safety protection, as well as maintaining and improving
streets and roads, storm sewers, parks and other facilities. The relationship between governmental activities
(reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and the governmental funds is
reconciled in the financial statements.

Proprietary Fund — The City’s only proprietary fund is an internal service fund which accounts for a self-
insurance program for employee medical and dental claims.
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Fiduciary Fund — The City has one agency fund. The agency fund is used to account for resources held for
the benefit of parties outside the City. The agency fund is not reflected on the government-wide statements
because the resources from that fund are not available to support the City’s programs.

The City of Green as a Whole

The Statement of Net Position provides an overall view of the City. Table 1 shows a summary of the City’s
net position for 2013 as it compares to 2012.

Table 1
Net Position
Governmental Activities
2013 2012 Change
Assets
Current and Other Assets $65,773,873 $67,167,007 ($1,393,134)
Capital Assets, Net 99,306,361 97,629,276 1,677,085
Total Assets 165,080,234 164,796,283 283,951
Deferred Outflows of Resources 2,156,049 1,693,095 462,954
Liabilities
Current and Other Liabilities 5,918,787 3,687,714 (2,231,073)
Long-Term Liabilities:

Due Within One Year 2,383,562 2,269,206 (114,356)
Due in More than One Year 56,091,491 57,949,045 1,857,554
Total Liabilities 64,393,840 63,905,965 (487,875)
Deferred Inflows of Resources 2,536,606 2,256,425 (280,181)

Net Position

Net Investment in Capital Assets 50,709,414 48,748,204 1,961,210

Restricted:
Capital Projects 7,236,526 6,434,239 802,287
Debt Service 82,896 0 82,896
Street Repair and Maintenance 10,656,058 12,082,693 (1,426,635)
Cemetery Maintenance 444 511 415,169 29,342
Lighting 128,594 115,599 12,995
Recycling 87,648 66,490 21,158
Grant Project 164,102 119,522 44,580
Telecommunications 302,457 273,981 28,476
Unclaimed Monies 3,505 19,100 (15,595)

Unrestricted 30,490,126 32,051,991 (1,561,865)

Total Net Position $100,305,837  $100,326,988 ($21,151)

By comparing assets and liabilities, one can see the overall position of the City has remained about the same
as evidenced by only a small decrease in net position. Management continues to diligently plan expenses,
staying carefully within the City’s revenues in an effort to maintain excellent levels of service within the
constraints of the budget.

-7-
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In order to further understand what makes up the changes in net position for the current year, the following
table gives readers further details regarding the results of activities for the current year. Table 2 shows total
revenues, expenses and changes in net position for the fiscal year 2013 and 2012.

Table 2
Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities

2013 2012 Change
Revenues
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services and Assessments $1,501,484 $1,590,014 ($88,530)
Operating Grants and Contributions 3,046,209 2,052,982 993,227
Capital Grants and Contributions 2,134,627 1,526,255 608,372
Total Program Revenues 6,682,320 5,169,251 1,513,069
General Revenues:
Property Taxes 1,349,294 1,352,873 (3,579)
Municipal Income Taxes 20,259,746 19,125,556 1,134,190
Hotel Taxes 500,013 481,020 18,993
Grants and Entitlements 2,271,009 1,113,888 1,157,121
Payment in Lieu of Taxes 1,165,737 1,239,598 (73,861)
Interest (43,457) 400,454 (443,911)
Other 674,137 287,613 386,524
Total General Revenues 26,176,479 24,001,002 2,175,477
Total Revenues 32,858,799 29,170,253 3,688,546
Program Expenses
General Government 8,557,964 6,981,504 (1,576,460)
Security of Persons and Property 8,350,769 8,387,897 37,128
Transportation 11,196,753 6,342,789 (4,853,964)
Public Health and Welfare 283,418 277,901 (5,517)
Leisure Time Activities 1,533,162 979,196 (553,966)
Community Environment 952,537 1,097,711 145,174
Interest and Fiscal Charges 2,005,347 2,022,298 16,951
Total Expenses 32,879,950 26,089,296 (6,790,654)
Increase (Decrease) in Net Position (21,151) 3,080,957 (3,102,108)
Net Position Beginning of Year 100,326,988 97,246,031 3,080,957
Net Position End of Year $100,305,837  $100,326,988 ($21,151)
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Governmental Activities

Several revenue sources fund governmental activities with the City of Green’s municipal income tax being
the largest contributor. The income tax rate, created by City Charter, became effective as a 2 percent rate on
January 1, 2004. The allocations of tax funds collected are: first, to defray all tax collection and enforcement
expenses; second, to allow 7 percent of the tax revenue to be assigned to the City’s parks and recreation
capital expenses; and third, to defray expenditures of the general fund. On a full accrual basis, the City
received income tax revenues of $20,259,746 in 2013. Income tax revenues increased by $1,134,190 in
2013, due to the addition of employers and higher employment rates within the City.

Operating grants and contributions increased in 2013 due largely to grants for the purpose of street
construction, maintenance, and repair.

2013 Revenues

Capital Grants and Other
Contributions 2%
6%

Operating Grants and
Contributions
9%

Charges for Services
5%

Grants and Entitlements

7%
° Interest

Municipal Income Taxes
0%

62%

Property Taxes,

Payments in Lieu of

Taxes, and Hotel Taxes
9%

Transportation accounts for the largest expense in governmental activities, representing approximately 34
percent of the total governmental activities expenses. These expenses include maintenance and repair of City
streets, traffic signals, and street lights. The large increase in 2013 is partially due to the completion of
several projects. Rather than capitalizing the full amount of the project, a portion was donated to Aqua Ohio,
as the City is not retaining ownership.

General government expenses make up the second largest portion of all governmental activities in 2013,
equal to about 26 percent of total governmental activities expenses. Some expenses included in general
government are planning, zoning, law, engineering, mayor, finance, council, and the service departments of
the City. Salary increases and debt issuance costs contributed to an increase in expenses from 2012.

The operations of the City’s safety forces account for one of the largest expenses in governmental activities,
representing approximately 25 percent of the total governmental activities expenses. The fire/paramedic
division is a full-time, 24-hour per day, 365-day per year operation utilizing two fire stations. Police services
are contracted with the Summit County Sheriff’s Office. This contract provides for seventeen full-time
deputies to be responsible for all patrols in the City of Green on a 24-hour per day, 365-day per year
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schedule. The use of part time fire personnel per a recent contract concession by the International
Association of Fire Fighters allowed the increase in overtime to be kept to a minimum, contributing to the
slight decrease in the operating costs of the City’s safety forces.

2013 Expenses
Community Interest and Fiscal

Environment Charges
3% 6%

General Government

Leisure Time Activities 26%

5%

Public Health and
Welfare

Security of Persons and
1%

Property
25%

Transportation
34%

The City’s Funds

Information about the City’s governmental funds begins on page 16. These funds are accounted for by using
the modified accrual method of accounting. All governmental funds had total revenues of $30,350,183 and
expenditures of $40,099,403. The City’s governmental funds reflected a decrease in fund balance of
$5,622,581, due in large part to increased transportation costs in 2013.

The general fund had revenues of $22,202,973 and expenditures of $18,459,718. Although this shows a
surplus of $3,743,255, in actuality, the City then transferred over $5 million in income tax revenue
collections to several other funds. For the remaining major funds, the largest expenditure of funds was
incurred for the support of the street construction, maintenance and repair funds. The street construction,
maintenance and repair fund had expenditures that far exceeded revenues, due to many maintenance and
repair projects in the City, but also received a transfer of income tax to partially offset these costs. The
general obligation bond retirement fund had a decrease in fund balance, due to payments to retire bonds
exceeding transfers in of income taxes. In the TIF fund, expenditures far outweighed revenues. Notes were
issued to partially offset the difference.

General Fund Budgeting Highlights

The City’s budget is prepared according to Ohio law and is based on accounting for certain transactions
based on cash receipts, disbursements, and encumbrances. The most significant budgeted fund is the general
fund. An annual appropriation budget is legally required to be prepared for all funds of the City, except for
the agency fund. The Mayor presents City Council with a detailed line item budget for all departments.
Following a Finance Committee budget hearing, which is open to the public, the annual budget is adopted at
the personal services and other expenditures in each department level of control by City Council at a
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City of Green, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Unaudited

regularly scheduled council meeting. Thereafter, the Finance Director is authorized to allocate funds
between the other expenditure line items within a department, which neither increases nor decreases the
appropriation amount established by Council. Modifications exceeding $10,000 and supplemental budgets
must be authorized by additional Council action.

Strong emphasis is placed on fund balances. The Director of Finance reviews fund balances on a regular
basis. Monthly reports are submitted to the Mayor and Council showing beginning fund balances for all
funds at the beginning of the year, monthly and year-to-date revenues and expenditures, intra-fund transfers,
and the current fund balances. Department and division heads are also given monthly reports to monitor
their purchase orders and account balances for additional operational spending.

For the general fund, original budgeted revenues were about the same as final budgeted revenues, and actual
revenues were lower than the final estimates. The difference between actual and final revenues is mainly due
to lower than expected other revenue sources. Actual expenditures were much lower than final budgeted
appropriations. This difference was due primarily to tight cost control by the City. The City’s ending
unencumbered cash balance in the general fund was above the final budgeted amount. This difference is due
to spending coming in lower than the final estimate.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration
Capital Assets

Table 3
Capital Assets at December 31
(Net of Depreciation)
Governmental Activities

2013 2012

Land $7,878,175 $7,919,644
Construction in Progress 18,761,218 19,498,700
Land Improvements 4,164,961 4,532,086
Building and Improvements 14,314,375 15,718,156
Machinery and Equipment 1,634,688 1,474,161
Vehicles 3,760,187 3,131,159
Right to Use CLC 11,314,135 11,909,615
Infrastructure

Streets 28,052,495 25,922,053

Sidewalks 4,367,496 3,973,763

Storm Sewers 3,382,749 1,890,014

Traffic Signals 1,187,573 1,304,269

Street Lights 154,963 0

Waterlines 333,346 355,656
Totals $99,306,361 $97,629,276

Total capital assets for the City of Green increased from the previous year. The most significant increases
were in the categories of streets and storm sewers. These increases are partially due to the closing of
constructions in progress as well as the donation of streets from developers. The Planning Department and
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City Engineer maintain a comprehensive listing of all the City’s streets, storm sewers and traffic lights. For
more information about the City’s capital assets, see Note 12 in the basic financial statements.

Debt
As of December 31, 2013, the City of Green had the following in outstanding debt:

Governmental Activities

2013 2012
Community Learning Center Income Tax Revenue Bonds $0 $660,000
Refunding Community Learning Center Bonds 21,524,538 21,720,829
Sanitary Sewer Improvement General Obligation Bonds 2,425,000 2,505,000
Various Purpose General Obligation Bonds 2008 411,921 5,514,230
Various Purpose General Obligation Bonds 2009 4,872,701 5,271,620
Various Purpose General Obligation Bonds 2010 6,779,929 7,075,219
Street Improvement General Obligation Bonds 2011 6,621,014 6,899,959
Street Improvement General Obligation Bonds 2012 4,156,435 4,329,932
Limited Tax General Obligation Refunding Bonds 2013 5,498,815 0
Recovery Zone Economic Development Bonds 1,205,000 1,245,000
Notes Payable 6,910,000 6,209,000

$60,405,353 $61,430,789

In November 2004, the City issued $25 million in income tax revenue Community Learning Center (CLC)
Income Tax Revenue bonds for the purpose of constructing, renovating and improving community learning
centers in cooperation with the Green Local School District. City income tax collection revenues are
earmarked to annually cover $1,000,000 of debt payments on the bonds. According to a joint agreement
with the School District, the City will make quarterly payments which total $1,000,000 each year for
principal and interest until the bonds mature. In 2012, the City issued Refunding Bonds for the Community
Learning Center debt and will continue to pay $1,000,000 annually, with the School District paying the
remainder.

A Sanitary Sewer was constructed and subsequently donated to the Summit County Department of
Environmental Services to service the area around Spring Hill. Operation and maintenance of this sewer is
the responsibility of the Department of Environmental Services. Payment for this sewer was undertaken by
the City and passed on to the benefited recipients of this sewer through payments in lieu of taxes.

Another various purpose general obligation bond issue for various purposes was sold in 2008 to pay for the
initial construction costs of the Central Administration Building and the rollover of note debt incurred in
December of 2007 in the amount of $3,000,000 for a total initial bonded indebtedness on the central
administration building of $5,000,000. The term of this bond is 25 years and will be paid off in 2032.
Additionally, an Arlington Road Wall tax incremental financing project was also added to this bonded
indebtedness in the amount of $1,070,000 with a term of 20 years. This bond will be paid off in 2028.

General obligation various purpose bonds were issued in 2009, with $4,000,000 used for the construction of
a new Central Administration Building, $2,000,000 to refund the 1997 general obligation bonds outstanding
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and $550,000 to retire a portion of the 2008 various purpose notes. The bonds have a 20 year term and will
be paid off in 2029. General obligation various purpose bonds were issued in 2010, to retire a portion of the
2009 various purpose notes. Also in 2010, the City issued $1,320,832 in recovery zone economic
development bonds to improve Global Gateway Drive. Both bond issues have a 20 year term and will be
paid off in 2030. In 2011, street improvement general obligation bonds were issued to retire bond
anticipation notes that had previously been issued to finance several streets within the City. In 2012, the City
issued the previously mentioned Refunding Community Learning Center bonds and street improvement
bonds to retire a portion of the 2011 notes. In 2013, the City issued $5,480,000 in limited tax general
obligation bonds to retire a portion of the 2008 various purpose general obligation bonds.

Various purpose notes were issued during 2013 to retire the 2012 bond anticipation notes for improving
certain streets within the City, to pay costs of various capital improvements and the construction of an
extension to Town Park Boulevard.

A discussion of City-related debt can be found in Notes 17 and 18 in the notes to the basic financial
statements.

Current Financial Related Issues

The income tax collections for the City continue to reflect an upward trend, as evidenced by the increase of
tax collections of $1,134,190. The City of Green is working to enhance available commercial and
manufacturing space through expansion of the Canton Akron Business Park which will eventually add to our
income tax base. Along with the Summa Care Emergency Room at Heritage Crossing, Summa is also
constructing medical offices which will further increase professional employment in the City of Green. A
new Acme supermarket and many stand-alone shops and restaurants are also under construction at this
Heritage Crossing site. With the increase in expected employment, the City of Green will continue to offset
some of the revenue losses caused by State of Ohio actions.

This continuing business and development expansion will continue to add to both the income tax and real
estate tax base. The ongoing administrative goal of maintaining our workforce, with a six month operating
cash reserve, along with no reductions in service is expected to continue throughout 2014.

The Administration and City Council continue to develop and update a five-year capital improvement plan
(CIP) to identify current and future infrastructure needs of the City. In 2013, projects totaling over $18.7
million were identified from the CIP listing and are currently in various stages of the construction process.
Included with the 2013 appropriations, were storm water projects funded with the intent of addressing
environmental concerns. The City will continue to be aware of federal mandates as relational to its design of
its infrastructure.

Contacting the City of Green’s Finance Department

The intent of this financial report is to provide Green citizens, taxpayers, creditors and investors with a
general overview of the City’s finances and to show the City’s accountability for the public funds it receives,
spends, and invests. If you have any questions about this report or need additional financial information,
contact the Director of Finance, Laurence Rush, at the City of Green, P. O. Box 278, Green, Ohio 44232-
0278, (330) 896-6603, or email to Finance@cityofgreen.org, or visit our website at www.cityofgreen.org.
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City of Green, Ohio
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2013

Governmental
Activities
Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents $47,083,757
Materials and Supplies Inventory 430,513
Accrued Interest Receivable 2,437
Accounts Receivable 508,012
Intergovernmental Receivable 10,987,930
Prepaid Items 126,676
Income Taxes Receivable 4,018,849
Property Taxes Receivable 1,505,473
Payment in Lieu of Taxes Receivable 1,110,226
Nondepreciable Capital Assets 26,639,393
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net 72,666,968
Total Assets 165,080,234
Deferred Outflows of Resoures
Deferred Charge on Refunding 2,156,049
Liabilities
Accounts Payable 745,575
Accrued Wages 206,498
Contracts Payable 1,439,480
Intergovernmental Payable 214,825
Vacation Benefits Payable 40,587
Accrued Interest Payable 191,586
Claims Payable 80,236
Notes Payable 3,000,000
Long-Term Liabilities:
Due Within One Year 2,383,562
Due In More Than One Year 56,091,491
Total Liabilities 64,393,840
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes 1,426,380
Payments in Lieu of Taxes 1,110,226
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 2,536,606
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 50,709,414
Restricted for:
Capital Projects 7,236,526
Debt Service 82,896
Street Repair and Maintenance 10,656,058
Cemetery Maintenance 444511
Lighting 128,594
Recycling 87,648
Grant Project 164,102
Telecommunications 302,457
Unclaimed Monies 3,505
Unrestricted 30,490,126
Total Net Position $100,305,837

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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City of Green, Ohio
Statement of Activities

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Governmental Activities:
General Government

Security of Persons and Property
Transportation

Public Health and Welfare
Leisure Time Activities
Community Environment
Interest and Fiscal Charges

Total Governmental Activities

Net (Expense)
Revenue and
Changes in
Program Revenues Net Position
Charges for Operating Capital
Services and Grants and Grants and Governmental
Expenses Assessments Contributions Contributions Activities
$8,557,964 $279,672 $0 $0 ($8,278,292)
8,350,769 881,513 19,713 0 (7,449,543)
11,196,753 40,581 2,942,835 2,134,627 (6,078,710)
283,418 64,115 0 0 (219,303)
1,533,162 63,867 25,735 0 (1,443,560)
952,537 171,736 57,926 0 (722,875)
2,005,347 0 0 0 (2,005,347)
$32,879,950 $1,501,484 $3,046,209 $2,134,627 (26,197,630)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements

General Revenues

Property Taxes Levied for:

General Purposes

Debt Service

Income Tax Levied for:

General Purposes

Parks Capital Project Reserve

Hotel Taxes

Grants and Entitlements not Restricted to Specific Programs
Payment in Lieu of Taxes

Investment Earnings

Other

Total General Revenues

Change in Net Position

Net Position Beginning of Year

Net Position End of Year
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1,242,475
106,819

18,890,905
1,368,841
500,013
2,271,009
1,165,737

(43,457)
674,137

26,176,479

(21,151)

100,326,988

_$100.305.837_



City of Green, Ohio
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

December 31, 2013
Street General
Construction, Obligation Other
Maintenance Bond TIF Governmental
General and Repair Retirement Projects Funds
Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and

Cash Equivalents $26,360,982 $8,628,379 $439,139 $6,349,005 $4,610,821
Materials and Supplies Inventory 15,803 414,710 0 0 0
Accrued Interest Receivable 2,437 0 0 0 0
Accounts Receivable 399,107 1,924 0 0 76,076
Intergovernmental Receivable 500,164 1,738,789 7,787,786 713,053 248,138
Interfund Receivable 2,410,000 0 0 0 0
Prepaid Items 104,849 104 0 0 2,098
Income Taxes Receivable 3,737,530 0 0 0 281,319
Property Taxes Receivable 1,386,289 0 119,184 0 0
Payment in Lieu of Taxes Receivable 0 0 0 1,110,226 0
Restricted Assets:

Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,505 0 0 0 0
Total Assets $34,920,666 $10,783,906 $8,346,109 $8,172,284 $5,218,452
Liabilities
Accounts Payable $385,686 $288,744 $0 $0 $71,145
Accrued Wages 182,726 23,772 0 0 0
Contracts Payable 274,819 416,795 0 743,841 4,025
Intergovernmental Payable 210,856 3,969 0 0 0
Interfund Payable 0 0 0 2,410,000 0
Accrued Interest Payable 0 0 0 12,493 0
Notes Payable 0 0 0 3,000,000 0
Total Liabilities 1,054,087 733,280 0 6,166,334 75,170
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Property Taxes 1,313,458 0 112,922 0 0
Payments in Lieu of Taxes 0 0 0 1,110,226 0
Unavailable Revenue 2,035,007 1,464,308 14,849 713,053 284,032
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 3,348,465 1,464,308 127,771 1,823,279 284,032
Fund Balances
Nonspendable 124,157 414,814 0 0 2,098
Restricted 0 8,171,504 8,218,338 182,671 4,220,684
Committed 0 0 0 0 628,809
Assigned 7,429,083 0 0 0 7,659
Unassigned 22,964,874 0 0 0 0
Total Fund Balance 30,518,114 8,586,318 8,218,338 182,671 4,859,250
Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of

Resources and Fund Balances $34,920,666 $10,783,906 $8,346,109 $8,172,284 $5,218,452

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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Total
Governmental
Funds

$46,388,326
430,513
2,437
477,107
10,987,930
2,410,000
107,051
4,018,849
1,505,473
1,110,226

3,505

$67,441,417

$745,575
206,498
1,439,480
214,825
2,410,000
12,493

3,000,000

8,028,871

1,426,380
1,110,226

4,511,249

7,047,855

541,069
20,793,197
628,809
7,436,742

22,964,874

52,364,691

$67,441,417

City of Green, Ohio
Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balances to
Net Position of Governmental Activities
December 31, 2013

Total Governmental Fund Balances $52,364,691

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of net position are different because

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and therefore are not reported in the funds 99,306,361

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current- period
expenditures and therefore reported as unavailable in the funds:

Delinquent Property Taxes $79,093
Income Taxes 1,523,066
Intergovernmental 2,602,915
Other 306,175
Total 4,511,249

Long-term liabilities, including compensated absences and
bonds are not reported in the funds:

General Obligation Bonds (31,970,815)
Community Learning Center Bonds (21,524,538)
Notes Payable (3,910,000)
Compensated Absences (1,069,700)
Total (58,475,053)

Deferred charges on refunding related to the issuance of long-term
refunding debt will be amortized over the life of the debt on the
statement of net position 2,156,049

Vacation benefits payable is not expected to be paid with expendable
available financial resources and therefore is not reported in the funds. (40,587)

Accrued interest payable is not due and payable in the current
period and therefore is not reported in the funds. (179,093)

An internal service fund is used by management to charge
the cost of insurance to individual funds. The assets and
liabilities of the internal service fund are included in the
governmental activities in the statement of net position. 662,220

Net Position of Governmental Activities $100,305,837
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City of Green, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Street General
Construction, Obligation Other
Maintenance Bond TIF Governmental
General and Repair Retirement Projects Funds

Revenues
Property Taxes $1,323,573 $0 $62,220 $51,571 $0
Income Taxes 18,625,065 0 0 0 1,348,832
Hotel Taxes 500,013 0 0 0 0
Payment in Lieu of Taxes 0 0 0 1,165,737 0
Special Assessments 4,566 30,126 0 0 60,921
Intergovernmental 965,096 2,007,226 255,507 435,804 1,814,469
Interest (106,045) 29,153 31,947 665 823
Licenses and Permits 392,991 10,455 0 0 105,313
Fines and Forfeitures 30,302 0 0 0 0
Rentals 31,832 0 0 0 0
Charges for Services 232,002 0 0 0 602,976
Contributions and Donations 25,735 0 0 0 3,000
Other 177,843 116,175 3,987 10,278 25
Total Revenues 22,202,973 2,193,135 353,661 1,664,055 3,936,359
Expenditures
Current:

General Government 8,460,016 0 2,460 352,768 37,671

Security of Persons and Property 7,153,350 0 0 0 946,146

Transportation 0 8,474,449 0 0 1,627,061

Public Health and Welfare 247,320 0 0 0 28,524

Leisure Time Activities 721,989 0 0 0 0

Community Environment 877,043 0 0 0 46,353
Capital Outlay 0 0 0 1,986,259 768,248
Debt Service:

Principal Retirement 498,537 0 787,663 4,805,000 118,800

Interest and Fiscal Charges 501,463 0 674,216 826,079 19,940

Issuance Costs 0 0 124,523 13,525 0
Total Expenditures 18,459,718 8,474,449 1,588,862 7,983,631 3,592,743
Excess of Revenues Over

(Under) Expenditures 3,743,255 (6,281,314) (1,235,201) (6,319,576) 343,616
Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Sale of Capital Assets 0 0 0 0 592,116
Notes Issued 0 0 0 3,910,000 0
General Obligation Bonds Issued 0 0 5,480,000 0 0
Premium on General Obligation Bonds 0 0 72,437 0 0
Payment to Refunded Bond Escrow

Agent 0 0 (5,427,914) 0 0
Transfers In 0 4,000,000 1,100,000 0 55,000
Transfers Out (5,655,000) 0 0 0 0
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (5,655,000) 4,000,000 1,224,523 3,910,000 647,116
Net Change in Fund Balances (1,911,745) (2,281,314) (10,678) (2,409,576) 990,732
Fund Balances Beginning of Year 32,429,859 10,867,632 8,229,016 2,592,247 3,868,518
Fund Balances End of Year $30,518,114 $8,586,318 $8,218,338 $182,671 $4,859,250

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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City of Green, Ohio
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes
in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013
Net Change in Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds ($5,622,581)
Total
Governmental Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
Funds statement of activities are different because
$1,437,364 Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
19,973,897 statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
500,013 useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital
1,165,737 outlay and capital contributions exceeded depreciation in the current period.
95,613 Capital Asset Additions
5,478,102 Capital Outlays $6,900,820
(43,457) Capital Contributions 542,986
508,759 Current Year Depreciation (4,300,343)
30,302 Total 3,143,463
31,832
834,978 Governmental funds only report the disposal of capital assets to the extent
28,735 proceeds are received from the sale. In the statement of activities, a gain
308,308 or loss is reported for each disposal. (1,466,378)
30,350,183 Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.
Property Taxes (88,070)
Income Taxes 285,849
8,852,915 Intergovernmental 1,402,022
8,099,496 Other 306,175
10,101,510 Total 1,905,976
275,844
721,989 Repayment of debt is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the
923,396 repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. 11,637,914
2,754,507
Proceeds of debt are other financing sources in the governmental funds, but
6,210,000 increase liabilities in the governmental activities.
2,021,698 Notes Issued (3,910,000)
138,048 General Obligation Bonds Issued (5,480,000)
Premium on General Obligation Bonds (72,437)
40,099,403 Total (9,462,437)
In the statement of activities, interest is accrued on outstanding debt, whereas
(9,749,220) in governmental funds, an interest expenditure is reported when due.
Amortization of Bond Premium and Discount 128,873
Accrued Interest on Debt 2,438
592,116 Amortization of Deferred Charge on Refunding (114,960)
3,910,000 Total 16,351
5,480,000
72,437 Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not
require the use of current financial resources and therefore
(5,427,914) are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.
5,155,000 Compensated Absences 16,762
(5,655,000) Vacation Benefits Payable 4,385
Total 21,147
4,126,639
The change in the accumulated overpayments to the internal service
(5,622,581) fund for governmental funds is reported for the year. (194,606)
57,987,272 Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities ($21,151)
$52,364,691

-19 -



City of Green, Ohio

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

In Fund Balance - Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual

General Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Revenues

Property Taxes
Income Taxes

Hotel Taxes
Intergovernmental
Interest

Licenses and Permits
Fines and Forfeitures
Rentals

Other

Total Revenues
Expenditures
Current:
General Government
Security of Persons and Property
Public Health and Welfare
Debt Service:
Principal Retirement
Interest and Fiscal Charges
Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over Expenditures
Other Financing Uses
Advances Out
Transfers Out
Total Other Financing Uses
Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance Beginning of Year

Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated

Fund Balance End of Year

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)
$1,487,185 $1,487,185 $1,323,573 ($163,612)
15,999,999 16,000,000 18,283,672 2,283,672
250,000 250,000 499,190 249,190
503,387 503,387 984,451 481,064
300,000 300,000 257,677 (42,323)
194,559 194,559 232,391 37,832
45,000 45,000 30,302 (14,698)
20,000 20,000 11,352 (8,648)
3,526,093 3,526,093 169,397 (3,356,696)
22,326,223 22,326,224 21,792,005 (534,219)
10,891,393 12,473,537 10,770,170 1,703,367
1,620,347 1,931,733 1,887,050 44,683
207,454 247,321 247,320 1
392,148 498,537 498,537 0
446,657 501,463 501,463 0
13,557,999 15,652,591 13,904,540 1,748,051
8,768,224 6,673,633 7,887,465 1,213,832
(350,000) (350,000) (350,000) 0
(12,210,000) (12,210,000) (12,210,000) 0
(12,560,000) (12,560,000) (12,560,000) 0
(3,791,776) (5,886,367) (4,672,535) 1,213,832
22,684,371 22,684,371 22,684,371 0
686,082 686,082 686,082 0
$19,578,677 $17,484,086 $18,697,918 $1,213,832

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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City of Green, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes

In Fund Balance - Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and Actual
Street Construction, Maintenance and Repair Fund

For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Revenues

Special Assessments
Intergovernmental
Interest

Licenses and Permits
Charges for Services
Other

Total Revenues

Expenditures

Current:
Transportation

Excess of Revenues Under Expenditures

Other Financing Sources
Transfers In

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance Beginning of Year
Prior Year Encumbrances Appropriated

Fund Balance End of Year

Variance with

Budgeted Amounts Final Budget
Positive
Original Final Actual (Negative)

$0 $0 $30,126 $30,126
1,225,775 1,225,775 1,922,557 696,782
0 0 29,153 29,153

18,225 18,225 10,295 (7,930)

2,000 2,000 0 (2,000)
4,000 4,000 114,971 110,971
1,250,000 1,250,000 2,107,102 857,102
12,383,167 12,703,188 11,274,041 1,429,147
(11,133,167) (11,453,188) (9,166,939) 2,286,249
4,000,000 4,000,000 4,000,000 0
(7,133,167) (7,453,188) (5,166,939) 2,286,249
7,757,347 7,757,347 7,757,347 0
2,544,862 2,544,862 2,544,862 0
$3,169,042 $2,849,021 $5,135,270 $2,286,249

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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City of Green, Ohio
Statement of Fund Net Position
Internal Service Fund
December 31, 2013

Assets

Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts Receivable

Prepaid Items

Total Assets

Liabilities
Claims Payable

Net Position
Unrestricted

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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$691,926
30,905
19,625

742,456

80,236

$662,220



City of Green, Ohio
Statement of Revenues,
Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
Internal Service Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Operating Revenues
Charges for Services
Other

Total Operating Revenues
Operating Expenses
Contractual Services
Claims

Total Operating Expenses

Operating Loss

Non-Operating Revenues
Transfers In

Change in Net Position
Net Position Beginning of Year

Net Position End of Year

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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$1,052,579
59,654

1,112,233

243,309

1,563,530

1,806,839

(694,606)

500,000

(194,606)

856,826

$662,220



City of Green, Ohio
Statement of Cash Flows
Internal Service Fund
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash Received from Transactions with Other Funds $1,052,579
Cash Received from Other Revenue Sources 42,002
Cash Payments for Goods and Services (243,698)
Cash Payments for Claims (1,567,117)
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities (716,234)

Cash Flows from Noncapital Financing Activites

Transfers In 500,000
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (216,234)
Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 908,160
Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $691,926

Reconciliation of Operating Loss to
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Operating Loss ($694,606)
Adjustments
Increase in Assets:
Accounts Receivable (17,652)
Prepaid Items (389)
Decrease in Claims Payable (3,587)
Total Adjustments (21,628)
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities ($716,234)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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City of Green, Ohio
Statement of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities
Agency Fund
December 31, 2013

Assets
Equity in Pooled Cash and Cash Equivalents

Liabilities
Deposits Held and Due to Others

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements
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$15,833



City of Green, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Note 1 — Description of the City and Reporting Entity

The City of Green, Ohio, (the City) is a body politic and corporate established for the purpose of exercising
the rights and privileges conveyed to it by its Charter and the Constitution and laws of the State of Ohio. The
City government was formed in 1992.

The City is a municipality of the State of Ohio operating under the direction of an elected mayor and seven-
member council. Council exercises budget and taxing authority, adopts its own appropriations and approves
its own expenditures.

Reporting Entity

A reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units and other organizations that are
included to ensure that the financial statements are not misleading. The primary government of the City
consists of all funds, departments, boards and agencies that are not legally separate from the City. The
primary government provides the following services to its citizens: fire protection, emergency medical
service, parks and recreation, street construction, maintenance and repair and general administrative services.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the City is financially accountable. The City is
financially accountable for an organization if the City appoints a voting majority of the organization's
governing board and (1) the City is able to significantly influence the programs or services performed or
provided by the organization; or (2) the City is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the organization's
resources; or the City is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to finance deficits of or
provide financial support to the organization; or the City is obligated for the debt of the organization.
Component units may also include organizations for which the City approves the budget, the issuance of
debt, or the levying of taxes, and there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits
to, or impose specific financial burden on, the primary government. The City has no component units.

The City participates in one jointly governed organization, the Southern Summit County Tax Incentive
Review Council. This organization is described in Note 13 of the Notes to the Basic Financial Statements.
Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial
reporting principles. The more significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below.

Basis of Presentation

The City’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of net

position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements, which provide a more detailed level of
financial information.
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City of Green, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Government-wide Financial Statements The statement of net position and the statement of activities
display information about the City as a whole. These statements include the financial activities of the primary
government, except for fiduciary funds. The activity of the internal service fund is eliminated to avoid
“doubling up” revenues and expenses. These statements usually distinguish between those activities of the
City that are governmental and those that are considered business-type. The City, however, has no business-
type activities.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental activities of the City at
year-end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues
for each program or function of the City’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are
specifically associated with a service, program or department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular
function. Program revenues include charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the
program, grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a
particular program and interest earned on grants that is required to be used to support a particular program.
Revenues which are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the City, with
certain limited exceptions. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to
which each business segment or governmental program is self-financing or draws from the general revenues
of the City.

Fund Financial Statements During the year, the City segregates transactions related to certain City
functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal
compliance. Fund financial statements are designed to present financial information of the City at this more
detailed level. The focus of governmental fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is
presented in a separate column. Nonmajor funds are aggregated and presented in a single column. The
internal service fund is presented in a single column on the face of the proprietary fund statements.
Fiduciary funds are reported by type.

Fund Accounting

The City uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as a fiscal and
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts. The City’s funds are classified as either
governmental, proprietary or fiduciary.

Governmental Funds Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically
are financed. Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial
resources. Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the purposes for
which they may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which they will be paid.
The difference between governmental fund assets and deferred outflows of resources, and liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources is reported as fund balance. The following are the City's major governmental
funds:

General Fund The general fund accounts for and reports all financial resources except those
required to be accounted for and reported in another fund. The general fund balance is available to
the City for any purpose provided it is expended or transferred according to the Charter of the City of
Green and/or the general laws of Ohio.

Street Construction, Maintenance and Repair Special Revenue Fund The street construction,

maintenance and repair special revenue fund accounts for and reports the portion of State gasoline
tax and motor vehicle registration fees restricted for the maintenance of the streets within the City.
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City of Green, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

General Obligation Bond Retirement Fund The general obligation bond retirement debt service
fund accounts for and reports property taxes that are restricted for the payment of principal, interest
and other fiscal charges on general obligation debt.

Tax Increment Financing Capital Projects Fund (TIF) The tax increment financing projects
capital projects fund accounts for and reports payments in lieu of taxes restricted for the purpose of
improving City of Green roads, utilities, and other infrastructure improvements in the defined benefit
areas of Arlington Road and Massillon Road.

The other governmental funds of the City account for grants and other resources whose use is restricted,
committed, or assigned to a particular purpose.

Proprietary Funds Proprietary fund reporting focuses on the determination of operating income, changes in
net position, financial position and cash flows. Proprietary funds are classified as either enterprise or internal
service. The City has no enterprise funds.

Internal Service Fund The internal service fund accounts for the financing of services provided by
one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the City on a cost reimbursement
basis. The City’s only internal service fund accounts for a self-insurance program for employee
medical and dental claims.

Fiduciary Funds Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The
fiduciary fund category is split into four classifications: pension trust funds, investment trust funds, private
purpose trust funds and agency funds. Trust funds are used to account for assets held by the City under a trust
agreement for individuals, private organizations, or other governments and are therefore not available to
support the City’s own programs. The City has no trust funds. The City’s agency fund is purely custodial
(assets equal liabilities) and thus does not involve measurement of results of operations. The City’s agency
fund accounts for monies posted for contractor bonds.

Measurement Focus

Government-wide Financial Statements The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the
economic resources measurement focus. All assets and liabilities associated with the operation of the City
are included on the Statement of Net Position. The Statement of Activities presents increases (e.g. revenues)
and decreases (e.g. expenses) in total net position.

Fund Financial Statements All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial
resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and deferred outflows of
resources and current liabilities and deferred inflows of resources generally are included on the balance
sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances reports on the sources (i.e.,
revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) of current
financial resources. This approach differs from the manner in which the governmental activities of the
government-wide financial statements are prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore
include a reconciliation with brief explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-
wide statements and the statements for governmental funds.
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City of Green, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Like the government-wide statements, the internal service fund is accounted for on a flow of economic
resources measurement focus. All assets and all liabilities associated with the operation of this fund are
included on the statement of net position. The statement of revenues, expenses and changes in fund net
position presents increases (i.e., revenues) and decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total position. The statement
of cash flows provides information about how the City finances and meets the cash flow needs of its internal
service activity.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on the
financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting; proprietary and fiduciary funds also use the accrual basis of accounting. Governmental funds
use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and modified accrual basis of
accounting arise in the recognition of revenue, the recording of deferred outflows/inflows of resources, and
in the presentation of expenses versus expenditures.

Revenues - Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in
which each party gives and receives essentially equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the
exchange takes place. On a modified accrual basis, revenue is recorded in the year in which the resources are
measurable and become available. Available means that the resources will be collected within the current
year or are expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current year.
For the City, available means expected to be received within sixty days of year-end.

Non-exchange transactions, in which the City receives value without directly giving equal value in return,
include income taxes, property taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On an accrual basis, revenue from
income taxes is recognized in the period in which the income is earned. Revenue from property taxes is
recognized in the year for which the taxes are levied (See Note 8). Revenue from grants, entitlements and
donations is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. Eligibility
requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used
or the year when use is first permitted, matching requirements, in which the City must provide local
resources to be used for a specified purpose, and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are
provided to the City on a reimbursement basis. On a modified accrual basis, revenue from non-exchange
transactions must also be available before it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both measurable and
available at year-end: income tax, state-levied locally shared taxes (including gasoline tax and motor vehicle
registration fees), interest, grants and rentals.

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources In addition to assets, the statements of net position will sometimes
report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of resources, represents a
consumption of net position that applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. For the City, deferred outflows of resources include a deferred
charge on refunding reported in the government-wide statement of net position. A deferred charge on
refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This
amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt.

In addition to liabilities, the statements of net position report a separate section for deferred inflows of
resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that applies to a future
period and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. For the City, deferred
inflows of resources include property taxes, payments in lieu of taxes, and unavailable revenue. Property
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City of Green, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

taxes and payments in lieu of taxes represent amounts for which there is an enforceable legal claim as of
December 31, 2013, but which were levied to finance 2014 operations. These amounts have been recorded
as a deferred inflow on both the government-wide statement of net position and the governmental fund
financial statements. Unavailable revenue is reported only on the governmental funds balance sheet, and
represents receivables which will not be collected within the available period. For the City unavailable
revenue includes delinquent property taxes, income taxes, intergovernmental grants, and other revenue.
These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period the amounts become
available.

Expenses/Expenditures On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are
incurred.

The measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources
(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting period in
which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as depreciation and
amortization, are not recognized in governmental funds.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

To improve cash management, cash received by the City is pooled. Monies for all funds are maintained in
this pool. Individual fund integrity is maintained through City records. Interest in the pool is presented as
"equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents".

During 2013, investments were limited to federal home loan mortgage corporation notes, federal farm credit
bureau bonds, federal home loan bank notes, federal national mortgage association notes, money market
mutual funds, repurchase agreements, and STAR Ohio.

Except for nonparticipating investment contracts, investments are reported at fair value which is based on
guoted market prices or, in the case of mutual funds, current share price. Nonparticipating investment
contracts such as repurchase agreements are reported at cost.

STAR Ohio is an investment pool managed by the State Treasurer’s Office which allows governments within
the State to pool their funds for investment purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as an
investment company, but does operate in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act
of 1940. Investments in STAR Ohio are valued at STAR Ohio’s net asset value per share which is the price
the investment could be sold for on December 31, 2013.

Investment procedures are restricted by the provisions of the Ohio Revised Code. Interest revenue, including
a decrease in the fair value of investments, credited to the general fund during 2013 amounted to ($106,045),
which includes ($81,711) assigned from other City funds.

Investments with an original maturity of three months or less and investments of the cash management pool
are presented on the financial statements as cash equivalents.

Prepaid Items
Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond December 31, 2013, are recorded as

prepaid items using the consumption method by recording a current asset for the prepaid amount at the time
of the purchase and the expenditure/expense in the year in which services are consumed.
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City of Green, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Inventory

Inventories are presented at cost on a first-in, first-out basis and are expended/expensed when used.
Inventory consists of expendable supplies held for consumption.

Restricted Assets

Assets are reported as restricted when limitations on their use change in nature or normal understanding of
the availability of the asset. Such constraints are either externally imposed by creditors, contributors,
grantors, or laws of other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation. Restricted assets in the general fund represent money set aside for unclaimed monies.

Capital Assets

All capital assets of the City are classified as general capital assets. These assets generally result from
expenditures in the governmental funds. These assets are reported in the governmental activities column of
the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported in the fund financial statements.

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions and
retirements during the year. The City was able to estimate the historical cost for the initial reporting of
infrastructure by backtrending (i.e., estimating the current replacement cost of the infrastructure to be
capitalized and using an appropriate price-level index to deflate the cost to the acquisition year or estimated
acquisition year). Donated capital assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the date received. The
City maintains a capitalization threshold of $5,000. Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal
maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend an asset’s life are not.

All reported capital assets except land and construction in progress are depreciated. Improvements are
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Useful lives for infrastructure were
estimated based on the City’s historical records or necessary improvements and replacement. Depreciation is
computed using the straight-line method over the following useful lives:

Description Estmated Lives
Land Improvements 20-50 years
Buildings and Improvements 20-50 years
Machinery and Equipment 5-30 years
Vehicles 10-30 years
Right to Use CLC 28 years
Infrastructure 15-40 years

The City’s infrastructure consists of streets, storm sewers, sidewalks, waterlines and a traffic signals system
including infrastructure acquired before December 31, 1980.

During 2005, the City acquired an intangible asset through the agreement with the Green Local School
District for the right to use the Community Learning Center, which was completed in 2006, with a value of
$15,482,500. At December 31, 2013, the amount of the asset is $11,314,135. Amortization is computed
using the straight-line method over the term of the agreement, which has 22 years remaining.
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City of Green, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Interfund Balances

On fund financial statements, outstanding interfund loans and unpaid amounts for interfund services are
reported as “interfund receivables/payables”. Interfund balance amounts are eliminated in the statement of
net position.

Compensated Absences

Vacation benefits are accrued as a liability as the benefits are earned if the employee's rights to receive
compensation are attributable to services already rendered and it is probable that the City will compensate
the employees for the benefits through paid time off or some other means. The City records a liability for
accumulated unused vacation time when earned for all employees with more than one year of service. Since
the City’s policy limits the accrual of vacation time to one year from the employee’s anniversary date, the
outstanding liability is recorded as “vacation benefits payable” on the statement of net position rather than as
a long-term liability.

Sick leave benefits are accrued as a liability using the vesting method. The liability includes the employees
who are currently eligible to receive termination benefits and those the City has identified as probable of
receiving payment in the future. The amount is based on accumulated sick leave and employees’ wage rates
at year end, taking into consideration any limits specified in the City's termination policy. The City records
a liability for accumulated unused sick leave for employees after one year of service with the City.

Accrued Liabilities and Long-term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely
manner and in full from current financial resources, are reported as obligations of the funds. However,
claims and judgments, and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are reported as
a liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment during the current
year. Bonds are recognized as a liability on the governmental fund financial statements when due.

Fund Balance

Fund balance is divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to
observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental funds. The classifications are
as follows:

Nonspendable The nonspendable fund balance category includes amounts that cannot be spent
because they are not in spendable form, or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.
The “not in spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash.

Restricted Fund balance is reported as restricted when constraints placed on the use of resources are
either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors, contributors, or
laws or regulations of other governments or is imposed by law through constitutional provisions or
enabling legislation (City ordinances).
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City of Green, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
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Enabling legislation authorizes the City to assess, levy, charge, or otherwise mandate payment of
resources (from external resource providers) and includes a legally enforceable requirement that
those resources be used only for the specific purposes stipulated in the legislation. Legal
enforceability means that the City can be compelled by an external party-such as citizens, public
interest groups, or the judiciary to use resources created by enabling legislation only for the purposes
specified by the legislation.

Committed The committed fund balance classification includes amounts that can be used only for
the specific purposes imposed by the highest level formal action (ordinance or resolution, as both are
equally legally binding) of City Council. Those committed amounts cannot be used for any other
purpose unless City Council removes or changes the specified use by taking the same type of action
(ordinance or resolution) it employed to previously commit those amounts. In contrast to fund
balance that is restricted by enabling legislation, the committed fund balance classification may be
redeployed for other purposes with appropriate due process. Constraints imposed on the use of
committed amounts are imposed by City Council, separate from the authorization to raise the
underlying revenue; therefore, compliance with these constraints is not considered to be legally
enforceable. Committed fund balance also incorporates contractual obligations to the extent that
existing resources in the fund have been specifically committed for use in satisfying those
contractual requirements.

Assigned Amounts in the assigned fund balance classification are intended to be used by the City
for specific purposes but do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. In
governmental funds other than the general fund, assigned fund balance represents the remaining
amount that is not restricted or committed. These amounts are assigned by City Council. In the
general fund, assigned amounts represent intended uses established by City Council or a City official
delegated that authority by City Charter or ordinance or by State statute. State statute authorizes the
Finance Director to assign fund balance for purchases on order provided such amounts have been
lawfully appropriated. City Council assigned fund balance for fire/paramedic service, parks and
recreation, zoning and planning.

Unassigned Unassigned fund balance is the residual classification for the general fund and includes
all spendable amounts not contained in the other classifications. In other governmental funds, the
unassigned classification is used only to report a deficit balance.

The City applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either
restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigned) amounts are available. Similarly, within
unrestricted fund balance, committed amounts are reduced first followed by assigned, and then unassigned
amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund
balance classifications could be used.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between all other elements in the statement of net position. Net
investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the
outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.
Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the
enabling legislation adopted by the City or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or
laws or regulations of other governments.
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The City applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted
and unrestricted net position is available.

Operating Revenues and Expenses

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated directly from the primary activity of the proprietary
funds. For the City, these revenues are for self-insurance programs. Operating expenses are necessary costs
incurred to provide the goods or services that are the primary activity of the funds. All revenues and
expenses not meeting these definitions are reported as hon-operating.

Internal Activity

Transfers between governmental activities are eliminated on the government-wide financial statements.
Internal allocations of overhead expenses from one function to another or within the same function are
eliminated on the statement of activities. Interfund payments for services provided and used are not
eliminated.

Exchange transactions between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as
expenditures/expenses in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another without a
requirement for repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are reported as other
financing sources/uses in governmental funds and as nonoperating revenues/expenses in the internal service
fund. Repayments from funds responsible for particular expenditures/expenses to the funds that initially paid
for them are not presented on the financial statements.

Bond Premium

On the government-wide financial statements, bond premiums are deferred and amortized for the term of the
bonds using the straight-line method. Bond premiums are presented as an increase of the face amount of the
bonds payable. On governmental fund statements, bond premiums are receipted in the year the bonds are
issued.

Deferred Charge on Refunding

On the government-wide financial statements, the difference between the reacquisition price (funds required
to refund the old debt) and the net carrying amount of the old debt, the gain/loss on the refunding, is being
amortized as a component of interest expense. This deferred amount is amortized over the life of the old or
new debt, whichever is shorter, using the effective interest method and is presented as deferred outflows of
resources on the statement of net position.

Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.
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Budgetary Process

All funds, except agency funds, are legally required to be budgeted and appropriated. The major documents
prepared are the tax budget (or the alternative tax budget as permitted by law), the certificate of estimated
resources, and the appropriations resolution, all of which are prepared on the budgetary basis of accounting.
The tax budget demonstrates a need for existing or increased tax rates. The certificate of estimated resources
establishes a limit on the amount Council may appropriate. The appropriations resolution is Council’s
authorization to spend resources and sets annual limits on expenditures plus encumbrances at the level of
control selected by Council. The legal level of control has been established by Council at the personal
services and other object level within each department for each fund for the operating budget. For the
personal service object level the Finance Director has been authorized to allocate and maintain
appropriations within each department. For the other object level the Finance Director has been authorized
to allocate appropriations within each department and any object level which he maintains on his books,
other than personal services. A separate capital appropriations resolution adopted by Council is established
at the individual project level within funds that make capital expenditures.

The certificate of estimated resources may be amended during the year if projected increases or decreases in
revenue are identified by the Director of Finance. The amounts reported as the original and final budgeted
amounts on the budgetary statements reflect the amounts on the amended certificate of estimated resources in
effect at the time original and final appropriations were passed by Council.

The appropriation resolution is subject to amendment throughout the year with the restriction that
appropriations cannot exceed estimated resources. The amounts reported as the original budgeted amounts
reflect the first appropriation resolution for that fund that covered the entire year, including amounts
automatically carried forward from prior years. The amounts reported as the final budgeted amounts
represent the final appropriation amounts passed by Council during the year.

Note 3 — Change in Accounting Principles

For fiscal year 2013, the City has implemented Governmental Accounting Standard Board (GASB)
Statement No. 61, “The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14
and No. 34”. GASB Statement No. 61 modifies existing requirements for the assessment of potential
component units in determining what should be included in the financial reporting entity, the display of
component units’ presentation and certain disclosure requirements. The implementation of this statement did
not result in any change in the City’s financial statements.

Note 4 — Compliance

Contrary to Ohio Revised Code Section 5705.39, the grant project fund had original appropriations of
$3,497,513 in excess of certified available resources of $754,899, leaving an excess of $2,742,614.

Contrary to Ohio Revised Code Section 5705.39, the grant project fund had final appropriations of
$3,504,702 and final revenues plus carryover balances of $754,899, leaving an excess of $2,749,803.

Management has indicated that appropriations will be closely monitored to ensure no further violations.
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Note 5 — Budgetary Basis of Accounting

While the City is reporting financial position, results of operations, and changes in fund balance on the basis
of generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), the budgetary basis as provided by law is based upon
accounting for certain transactions on a basis of cash receipts, disbursements and encumbrances. The
Statements of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget (Non-GAAP Basis) and
Actual presented for the general fund and major special revenue funds are presented on the budgetary basis
to provide a meaningful comparison of actual results with the budget. The major differences between the
budget basis and the GAAP basis are as follows:

1.

Revenues are recorded when received in cash (budget) as opposed to when susceptible to
accrual (GAAP).

Investments are reported at fair value (GAAP) rather than cost (budget).

Expenditures are recorded when paid in cash (budget) as opposed to when the liability is
incurred (GAAP).

Advances - In and Advances - Out are operating transactions (budget) as opposed to balance
sheet transactions (GAAP).

Budgetary revenues and expenditures of the fire/paramedic, parks and recreation, zoning,
and planning funds are reclassified to the general fund for GAAP reporting.

Encumbrances are treated as expenditures (budget) rather than as assigned, committed, or
restricted fund balance (GAAP).

The following table summarizes the adjustments necessary to reconcile the GAAP basis statements to the
budgetary basis statements for the general fund and major special revenue funds.

Net Change in Fund Balance
General and Major Special Revenue Funds
Street
Construction,
Maintenance

General and Repair

GAAP Basis ($1,911,745) ($2,281,314)
Adjustment for Revenue Accruals (295,379) (86,033)
Beginning Fair Value Adjustment for Investments 92,633 0
Ending Fair Value Adjustment for Investments 270,510 0
Adjustment for Expenditure Accruals 254,923 693,517
Advances Out (350,000) 0
Perspective Differences:

Fire/Paramedic 238,598 0

Parks and Recreation (127,201) 0

Zoning 16,746 0

Planning (144,018) 0
Adjustment for Encumbrances (2,717,602) (3,493,109)
Budget Basis (%$4,672,535) ($5,166,939)
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Note 6 — Fund Balances

Fund balance is classified as nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned and/or unassigned based
primarily on the extent to which the City is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the
resources in the government funds. The constraints placed on fund balance for the major governmental funds
and all other governmental funds are presented below:

Street General
Construction, Obligation Other
Maintenance Bond TIF Governmental
Fund Balances General and Repair Retirement Projects Funds Total

Nonspendable:

Inventory $15,803 $414,710 $0 $0 $0 $430,513

Prepaids 104,849 104 0 0 2,098 107,051

Unclaimed Monies 3,505 0 0 0 3,505
Total Nonspendable 124,157 414,814 0 2,098 541,069
Restricted for:

Street Maintenance 0 8,171,504 0 0 630,837 8,802,341

Debt Service Retirement 0 0 8,218,338 0 0 8,218,338

Street Lighting 0 0 0 0 128,594 128,594

Recycling 0 0 0 0 87,648 87,648

Cemetery 0 0 0 0 444511 444511

Telecommunications 0 0 0 0 302,457 302,457

Capital Improvements 0 0 0 182,671 2,490,347 2,673,018

Other Purposes 0 0 0 0 136,290 136,290
Total Restricted 0 8,171,504 8,218,338 182,671 4,220,684 20,793,197
Committed to:

Ambulance Service 0 0 0 0 554,756 554,756

Other Purposes 0 0 0 0 74,053 74,053
Total Committed 0 0 0 0 628,809 628,809
Assigned to:

Fire/Paramedic 2,784,608 0 0 0 0 2,784,608

Parks and Recreation 1,356,584 0 0 0 0 1,356,584

Zoning 169,718 0 0 0 0 169,718

Planning 738,501 0 0 0 0 738,501

Purchases on Order 2,379,672 0 0 0 0 2,379,672

Capital Improvements 0 0 0 0 7,659 7,659
Total Assigned 7,429,083 0 0 0 7,659 7,436,742
Unassigned 22,964,874 0 0 0 0 22,964,874
Total Fund Balances $30,518,114 $8,586,318 $8,218,338 $182,671 $4,859,250  $52,364,691

Note 7 — Deposits and Investments

The City is a charter City and has adopted an investment policy through City Ordinance. The City has
elected to follow the provisions of State statute. State statutes classify monies held by the City into three
categories.

Active monies are public monies determined to be necessary to meet current demands upon the City treasury.
Active monies must be maintained either as cash in the City treasury, in commercial accounts payable or
withdrawable on demand, including negotiable order of withdrawal (NOW) accounts, or in money market
deposit accounts.
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Inactive deposits are public deposits that the Council has identified as not required for use within the current
five year period of designation of depositories. Inactive deposits must either be evidenced by certificates of
deposit maturing not later than the end of the current period of designation of depositories, or by savings or
deposit accounts including, but not limited to, passbook accounts.

Interim deposits are deposits of interim monies. Interim monies are those monies which are not needed for
immediate use but which will be needed before the end of the current period of designation of depositories.
Interim deposits must be evidenced by time certificates of deposit maturing not more than one year from the
date of deposit or by savings or deposit accounts including passbook accounts.

Protection of the City’s deposits is provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), by
eligible securities pledged by the financial institution as security for repayment, by surety company bonds
deposited with the finance director by the financial institution or by a single collateral pool established by the
financial institution to secure the repayment of all public monies deposited with the institution.

Interim monies to be deposited or invested in the following securities:

1. United States Treasury bills, bonds, notes, or any other obligation or security issued by the
United States Treasury, or any other obligation guaranteed as to principal and interest by the
United States;

2. Bonds, notes, debentures, or any other obligations or securities issued by any federal
government agency or instrumentality, including, but not limited to, Federal National
Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Bank, Federal Farm Credit Bank, Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation, Government National Mortgage Association, and Student Loan
Marketing Association. All federal agency securities shall be direct issuances of federal
government agencies or instrumentalities;

3. No-load money market mutual funds consisting exclusively of obligations described in (1) or
(2) and repurchase agreements secured by such obligations, provided that investments in
securities described in this division are made only through eligible institutions;

4. Time certificates of deposit or savings or deposit accounts including, but not limited to,
passbook accounts;

5. Bonds and other obligations of the State of Ohio;
6. The State Treasurer's investment pool (STAR Ohio);
7. Certain bankers’ acceptances and commercial paper notes for a period not to exceed one

hundred eighty days in an amount not to exceed 25 percent of the interim monies available for
investment at any one time if training requirements have been met; and

8. Written repurchase agreements in the securities described in (1) or (2) provided the market
value of the securities subject to the repurchase agreement must exceed the principal value of
the agreement by at least two percent and be marked to market daily, and the term of the
agreement must not exceed thirty days.

Investments in stripped principal or interest obligations, reverse repurchase agreements, and derivatives are
prohibited. The issuance of taxable notes for the purpose of arbitrage, the use of leverage, and short selling
are also prohibited.
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Investments may only be made through specified dealers and institutions. Payment for investments may be
made only upon delivery of the securities representing the investments to the treasurer or, if the securities are
not represented by a certificate, upon receipt of confirmation of transfer from the custodian.

The City has passed an ordinance allowing the City to invest monies not required to be used for a period of
six months or more in the following:

1. Bonds of the State of Ohio;

2. Bond of any municipal corporation, village, county, township or other political subdivision of
this State, as to which there is not default of principal, interest, or coupons; and,

3. Obligations of the City.

Deposits

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the City will not be able to
recover deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. At year-end, the
carrying amount of the City’s deposits was $15,687,971 and the bank balance was $16,323,839. Of the bank
balance, $1,250,000 was covered by federal depository insurance and $15,073,839 was exposed to custodial
credit risk because it was uninsured and uncollateralized. Although the collateral securities were held by the
pledging financial institutions’ trust department and all statutory requirements for the deposit of money had
been followed, noncompliance with Federal requirements could potentially subject the City to a successful
claim by the FDIC.

The City has no deposit policy for custodial risk beyond the requirements of State statute. Ohio law requires
that deposits be either insured or be protected by eligible securities pledged to and deposited either with the
City or a qualified trustee by the financial institution as security for repayment, or by a collateral pool of
eligible securities deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to secure the repayment of all public monies
deposited in the financial institution whose market value at all times shall be at least one hundred five
percent of the deposits being secured.

Investments
As of December 31, 2013, the City had the following investments:

Investment Maturities (in Years)

Fair Less
Investment Type Value than 1 1-3
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Notes $7,227,927 $1,000,580 $6,227,347
Federal Farm Credit Bureau Bonds 3,795,376 750,439 3,044,937
Federal Home Loan Bank Notes 497,905 0 497,905
Federal National Mortgage Association Notes 12,897,507 0 12,897,507
Money Market Mutual Funds 32,474 32,474 0
Repurchase Agreements 6,860,000 6,860,000 0
STAR Ohio 100,430 100,430 0
Total Investments $31,411,619 $8,743,923 $22,667,696
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Interest Rate Risk. Per the City’s policy, as a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses caused by
rising interest rates, the City will attempt to match its investments with anticipated cash flow requirements.
No investment shall be made unless the Director of Finance, at the time of making the investment,
reasonably expects it can be held to maturity. Unless matched to a specific obligation or debt of the City, the
City will not directly invest in securities maturing more than five years from the date of settlement if such
securities bear interest at a fixed rate, and it will not directly invest in such securities maturing more than two
years from the date of settlement if they bear interest at a variable rate.

Credit Risk. The Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Notes, which is also the security underlying the
repurchase agreement, carry an AA+ rating by Standard and Poor’s. The Federal Farm Credit Bureau
Bonds, Federal Home Loan Bank Notes, and Federal National Mortgage Association Notes carry a rating of
AA+ by Standard and Poor’s. The Money Market Mutual Fund is not rated. STAR Ohio carries a rating of
AAAmM by Standard and Poor’s. The City has no investment policy that addresses credit risk.

Custodial Credit Risk. For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty
to an investment will not fulfill its obligations. The Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Notes,
Federal Farm Credit Bureau Bonds, Federal Home Loan Bank Notes, and Federal National Mortgage
Association Notes are exposed to custodial credit risk in that they are uninsured, unregistered, and held by
the counterparty. The City’s policy requires that all security transactions, including securities acquired
subject to repurchase agreements, entered into by the City, shall be conducted on a delivery-versus-payment
basis. Purchased securities will be held by a third party custodian, designated by the Director of Finance,
that is a Federal Reserve Bank or other “qualified trustee” within the meaning of Ohio Revised Code Section
135.18(1), and the safekeeping of those securities shall be released by the City only upon verification that the
principal and interest, or proceeds of sale of the securities, have been credited to the City’s account.

Concentration of Credit Risk. Credit risk is defined as having five percent or more of the City’s investments
invested in the securities of a single issuer. The City’s investment policy requires diversification of the
portfolio, but only states that the investments should be diversified by security, type, and institution. The
following is the City’s allocation as of December 31, 2013:

Percentage of

Investment Issuer Investments
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation Notes 23.01 %
Federal Farm Credit Bureau Bonds 12.08
Federal National Mortgage Association Notes 41.06
Repurchase Agreements 21.84

Note 8 — Receivables
Receivables at December 31, 2013, consisted primarily of municipal income taxes, property and other taxes,

payments in lieu of taxes, accounts, and intergovernmental receivables arising from grants, entitlements, and
shared revenues. All receivables are deemed collectible in full.
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All receivables except for delinquent property taxes, payments in lieu of